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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

CLIVE BARON , CIVIL ACTION
Plaintiff
V.
ABBOTT LABORATORIES , NO. 14-4706
Defendant
DuBais, J. February 17, 2016

MEMORANDUM

l. INTRODUCTION
This is anemployment discriminationase. Plaintiff, Clive Baron, alleges that he was
fired by his former employer, defendant Abbott Laboratories (“Abbott”), becalusis age. In
his Complaint, Baron claims that Abbott’s decision to terminate his emmglotviolated the
Age Discrimination in Employment Act (“ADEA”), 29 U.S.C. § 621, et seq., the Florida Civil
Rights Act of 1992 (“Florida Civil Rights Ac}; Fla. Stat. 88 760.01, et seq., and the
Pennsylvania Human Relations Act (“PHRA”), 43 Pa. Cons. Stat. Ann. § 951, et seq.lfPresent
before the Court is Abbott’s Motion for Summary Judgment, filed July 31, 2015. For the reasons
that follow, the Court grants Abbott’s Motion for Summary Judgment, and enters judgment
favor of Abbott and against Baron.
I. BACKGROUND
The facts of this case as set forth in the parties’ briefs and accompanyiibitseadie
summarized as follows. The facts are not contested except as otherwise noted.
A. Baron’s Employment at Abbott
Baron was born in 1953. Def.’s Statement of Facts 6. In 2007, Baron was recruited by

Isaac Friedman, the foundand CEO of a company called STARLIMS. Pl.’s Statement of Facts
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1 4. STARLIMS'’s primary business was selling an eponymous software platfacrentific
laboratories and industrfhe STARLIMS softwareis a “laboratory information management
system” with a “unified welbased platform” that helps researchers to “manage complex testing
and workflows, and facilitate automated processes and calculations” in orderease
efficiency and mitjate errors.” Def.’s Statement of Facf] 2-3. From 2007 until March 2010,
Baron held the position of Chief Business Development Officer at STARLIMSegadited
directly to Friedman. Pl.’s Statement of Feftis.

In March 2010, Abbott acquired STARLIMBI.’s Statement of Facts5. Friedman
became Division Vice Presideahd General Manager of a new STARLIMS Division at Abbott.
Pl.’s Statement of Facts5. Baron became General Manager for Europe and Africa in the
STARLIMS Division and reported directtp Friedman. Pl.’s Statement of Fa§tS. While he
was General Manager for Europe and Africa, Baron led the negotitmin®sulted in the
acquisition of foulSTARLIMS Division business partners in France, the Netherlands, the United
Kingdom, and Isral. Pl.’s Statement of Facfs/. Baron also started a new STARLIMS South
Africa operating entity. Pl.’s Statement of Faft3. During his first two years at Abbott, Baron
oversaw significant business growth in Europe, and STARLIMS Eunopeased sal€som $3
million to $16 million. Pl.’s Statement of Facfs10. During this period, Baron received
performance ratings of “Exceeds Expectations,” the highest rating. Rit&sr&nt of Fact$ 10.

In March 2012, approximately two years after the STARLIMS acquisition, Abbott
underwent an internal reorganization that created a new divisimedAbbott Informatics
Systems (“AIS”). Pl.’s Statement of Fadtd2. At that time, AIS consisted of STARLIMS and

OnelLab, another laboratory information management syféeirs Statement of Facfs12.

! SeeAbbott Informatics, Products, STARLIMS,
https://www.abbottinformatics.com/us/products/lims
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Friedman was promoted to Division Vice President for AIS and Baron was proroated t
position titled “Manager of Global Commercial Operations,” effectivgéineral Manager il
of STARLIMS. Def.’s Statement of Facts15;Pl.’s Statement of Facfs12. At the timene
became General Manager of STARLIMS, Baron was responsible for foanseglorth
America, Europe and Africa, Asia Pacific, and Latin America. Pl.’s Statemé&atotdf 12. For
the year 2012, Baron waged“Achieved Expectatioridor his job performance. Pl.’s
Statement of Fact 12.

In July 2012, Friedman’s supervisor, Ed Michael, left Abbott, Bman Blaser replaced
him as Executive Vice President of the Diagnostics Division. Pl.’s StatementtefFRad;
Def.’s Statement of Facf] 9-10. Blaser was born in 1964&riedman remained employed at
Abbott pursuant to a three-year employment contract set to expire in April 2013, et of t
STARLIMS acquisition. Pl.’s Statement of Fafjtsl4. FollowingMichael’s retirement,
Friedman informed Blaser that he planned to retire at the end of his contra@td&eiment of
Factsy 14.

In March 2013, David Champagne was announced as Friedman’s successor as Division
Vice President for AIS. Pl.’s Statementkectsy 16. Prior to coming to Abbott, Champagne
worked for an Abbott competitor, Thermo Fisl&mientific. Pl.'s Statement of Facfsl6.
Champagne was born in 1956. Def.’s Statement of FactsHfi2Bmanallegedlytold Baron
thatBaron was “too old” to be considered for the Vice President for AlS posiiods.
Statement of Fact 15.

Champagne became Baron’s direct supervisor as head of AIS in April 2013. Def.’s
Statement of Fac 24.Champagne also directly supervised Scott Goss, the General Manager of

OnelLab Def.’s Statement of Facts20. Scott Goss was born in 1971. Def.'s Statement of Facts



1 14. Baron and Goss were the only General Managers who reported directly to Gleampag
Def.’s Statement of Facts25.

In 2013, the performance of AIS as a whole, both STARLIMS and OnelLab, did not meet
Abbott’s projections. Def.’s Statement of Faffs35-39. As part of a restructuring in the
summer of 2013, Champagne, Blaser, and other Abbott execdévEedio eliminate the
Onelab division. Def.’s Statement of Facta6f Plaintiff's Resp. to Def.’s Statement of F&ffs
26-28. As aresult, Goss’s position as General Manager of OnelLab was eliminatezl and hi
employment waserminated. Def.’s Statement of Fa§ifi26-27.Goss was fortywo years old
when he was fired.

In October and November of 2013, Champagne discussed further restructuring of AIS
with Blaser and several Abbott Human Resources executives. Def.’s StatdiiRacts] 40.As
part of this restructuring, Champagne made the decision to eliminate Bawsitisrpas General
Manager of STARLIMS. Def.’s Statement of Fa§td1. At his deposition in this case on April
15, 2015, Champagne explained thaiaated “to &ke a layer out of the organization, so that
we could make decisions and act on them much . . . more quickly.” Def.’s StatemertsdEX¥ac
E, at 24. Champagne also wanted “more direct visibility into all of the workinge dfusiness
in the field. And as such, all of his director reports essentially reportediyli@ate.” Def.’s
Statement of Facts Ex. E, at 25.

In December 2013, Champagne informed Baron that his position was being eliminated.
Pl.’s Statement of Factfs19. At that meeting, Champagne told Baron tiga¢liminated Baron’s
position “to shake things up.” Pl.’s Statement of Facts § 19. Before and afteettisg,
neither Champagne nany other Abbott employees made any negative comments regarding

Baron'’s job performance. Pl.’s Statemef Factsf 20. Baron’s employment at Abbott ended



effectiveDecember 31, 2013. Compl. § Baron believes that his employment was terminated
because of his age. Def.’s Statement of Facts Ex. A,-8684t the time of Baron’s firing,
Baron was sixty gars old and Champagne was fifty-six years old.

WhenBaron'’s positiorwas eliminatedn December 2013, several of the regional general
manager positions that reported to Baron in his role as General Manager foLI&MSA\Rere
vacant. Pl.’s Statement of Ra§lf 24-25. Specifically, the positiomms General Manager of
Europeand Africaand General Manager of North America wea filled and the Country
Managers for these regiohad beemeporting to Baron directly. Pl.’s Statement of F4i&4-

25.

In January 2014, Abbott promoted the Country Manager for the United Kingdom, Simon
Wood, to the General Manager of Eur@mal Africaposition. Pl.’s Statement of Fadi§24, 26.
Wood was born in 1959. Def.’s Statement of Facts § 18. Wood had previously reported directly
to Baron. Pl.’s Statement of Facts § R6mid-2013, before the elimination of Baron’s position
at Abbott, Champagne and Baron had discussed Wood’s promotion to General Manager of
Europe and Africa, at that time, under Baron as Global Manager of STARLIMS. Def.’s
Statement of Fact 18.

Also in January 2014, Abbott promoted then&l Manager for Latin America, Iberia,
and Canadalamir Gottfried, to the General Manager of North America position. Def.’s
Statement of &cts Ex. C at 13. Gottfried was born in 1974. Def.’s Statement of Facts Ex. C., at
13. Like Wood, Gottfried reported directly to Baron before his promoRbis Statement of
FactsY 25. In the summer of 2013, Baron assigned the additional responsibditgrseeing
Canadian operations to Gottfried, who had previously been General Manager forrhatiicah

and Iberia. Pl.’s Statement of Fafitg5.



In February 2015, just over a year after Baron’s departure, Abbott hired Richard
Lanchantin as AIS Directaf Global Sales and Services Operations. Pl.’s Statement of Facts
9 48. Lanchantin was born in 1956. Def.’s Statement of Facts Ex. H, at 5. Lanchantin was
recruited by Champagne while Lanchantin wagployed byrhermo Fisher Scientific. Def.’s
Statemenbf Facts Ex. H, at 18. Lanchantin had previously worked under Champagne for two
years at Thermo Fisher before Champagne left to join Abbott. Def.’s Statefrfeacts Ex. H, at
20.

In May 2015, Chamggnereduced his level of work responsibility at Abbott for personal
reasons. Def.’s Statement of Fa§fH0-51. As a result, Lanchantin was promoted to Senior
Director of Global Commercial Operations at AIS. Def.’s Statement of K&&2s Many of the
regional General Managers who were reporting directyitampagne and had previously
reported to Baron began reporting to Lanchantin. Def.’s Statement offFa8tS hus,
Lanchantin’s role as Senior Director of Global Commercial OperatiodkSan May 2015
mirrored the role that Baron had performed priath®elimination of his position in December
2013. Def.’s Statement of Facts § 54. In May 2015, Lanchantin was 59 years old.

B. Procedural History

On May 14, 2014, Baron filed a verified charge of discrimination with the Equal
Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) and cross-filed the charge with the PennsylMamnan
Relations Commission and the Florida Commission on Human Relations. Pl.’s Statément
FactsY 31. In the charge, Baron asserted a claim of age discrimination on the basis of
(1) Abbott’s failure to consider him for Champagne’s position and (2) his termination from
Abbott in December 2013. On August 12, 2014, Baron filed his Comataiinis action in

which he asserts clasffior age discrimination in violation of ADEA, the Florida Civil Rights



Act, ard PHRA.The Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 29 U.S.C. §
626(c)(1).

Following discovery, on July 31, 2015, Abbott filed the instant Motion for Summary
Judgment. In the Motion, Abbott argues that Baron has (1) failed to makgounaafaciecase
that his employment was terminatedDecember 2018s a result ohge discrimination and
(2) failed toshowthat Abbott’s legitimate nondiscriminatory reason for terminating Baron was a
pretext for age discriminatiolbbott also argues that any claim for age discrimination based on
Abbott’s failure to promote Baron in April 2013 to the Division Vice President PositiotSaisA
time-barred.

1. APPLICABLE LAW

The Court will grant a motion for summary judgment if “the mawwhows that there is
no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgmenatsr of
law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(agee Celotex Corp. v. Catret77 U.S. 317, 322-23 (1986). A factual
dispute is material when it “might a&ftt the outcome of the suit under the governing law.”
Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inet77 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). A dispute of fact is genuine “if the
evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmovinglgarty.”
“[T]he judge’s function is not himself to weigh the evidence and determine the truth of the
matter but to determine whether . . . there is sufficient evidence favoring the nogrpaxty for
a jury to return a verdict for that partyd. at 249.

In considering a motion for summary judgment, “the court is required to examine the
evidence of record in the light most favorable to the party opposing summaryejoiigmd
resolve all reasonable inferences in that party's faWdishkin v. Potter476 F.3d 180, 184 (3d

Cir. 2007). The party opposing the motion, however, cannot “rely merely upon bare assertions,



conclusory allegations or suspicions” to support a cldimeman’s Ins. Co. of Newark, N.J. v.
DuFresng 676 F.2d 965, 969 (3d Cir. 1982) (citations omitted)e party asserting a fact “must
support the assertion by . . . citing to particular parts of material in the record .ed..R.FCiv.
P. 56(c)(1)(A).
V. DISCUSSION

ADEA prohibits age discriminatioby employersagainst any employemver the age of
forty. 29 U.S.C. 88§ 623(a)(1), 631(aADEA claims are subject to the thrpeong burden-
shifting analysis originally set forth icDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Gregdl1l U.S. 792 (1973).
SeeKeller v. Orix Credit Alliance, In¢.130 F.3d 1101, 1108 (3d Cir. 199/)aintiff bears the
burden of establishing@ima faciecase of discriminatiorMcDonnell Douglas411 U.S. at
802. Ifthe plaintiff employeeestablishes prima faciecase, the burden shifts to the defendant
employer to produce evidence of a legdte nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse
employment actiond. This burden is one of production, not persuastmith v. City of
Allentown 589 F.3d 684, 690 (3d Cir. 2009j.defendant offes a legitimate nondiscriminatory
reason, in order tausvive summary judgment, plaintiff must submit evidence “to demonstrate
that the employés proffered rationale was a pretext for dgeerimination.”ld. Ultimately,
plaintiff bears théurden of persuading the trier of fact tia defendant intentionil
discriminated against plaintif€arullo v. U.S. Postal Send52 F.3d 789, 799 n.10 (3d Cir.

2003).

2 The same legal standard applies to Baron’s claims under ADEA, the FlivibRiGhts Act,

and PHRASee Burton v. Teleflex In@07 F.3d 417, 432 (3d Cir. 2013) (“[T]he PHRA is to be
interpreted as identical to federal adiscrimination laws except where there is something
specifically different in its language requiring that it be edatifferently.” (citations and
guotations omitted)}darper v. Blockbuster Entertainment Car39 F.3d 1385, 1387 (11th
Cir. 1998) (“The Florida courts have held that decisions construing Title Vpgkcable when
considering claims under the Flaicivil Rights Act, because the Florida act was patterned
after Title VIL.").



A. PrimaFacie Case

Abbott argues that Baron has failed to establigshraa faciecase because no reasonable
jury could conclude that Baron has produced sufficient evidence to support an inferegee of a
discrimination. The Court agrees.

To establish @rima faciecase of age discrimination under ADEA, plaintiff must show
that(1) he is oveforty years old (2) he is qualified for the position in question; (3) he suffered
an adverse employment decision; and (4) he was replaced by a sufficemtbey person to
permit an inference of age discriminati@mith 589 F.3d at 689[wo of these elements are not
in dispute. During the relevant times, Baron was over forty years old and he tyasears old
at the time he was fired. The partaggreethat Baron was qualified for his position.

1. Adverse Action

The parties do not dispute that Baron’s termination in December 2013 constituted an
adverse action under ADEA. However, in his Complaint and motion papers, Baron alsasser
claim for failure to promote based on Abbott’s failure to consider him for Chamgagostion
in April 2013 after Friedman’s retirement. Abbott argues that any failyseotmote claim is
time-barred because Baron did not file his EEOC charge until May 2014. TheaQoegsIn
so-called “deferral statg’ssuch as Pennsylvanian ADEA charge must be made with the
relevant state agency within 300 days of when the alleged unlawful employraetitgr
occurredHildebrand v. Allegheny Cnty757 F.3d 99, 112 (3d Cir. 2014) (citing 29 U.S.C. 88
626(d)(2), 633(b)). Baron has identified no reason for the Court to excuse this condition
precedent to suit. Thus, the Court concludes that the only actionable adverse actgcasetis

the termination of Baron’s employment at Abbott in December 2013.



2. Inference of Age Discrimination

To satisfy the fourth element of th@ima faciecase, plaintiff must show that the
employer filled his position with someone “sufficiently younger to permit arenice of age
discrimination.”Barber v. CSX Distrib. Sery$8 F.3d 694, 699 (3d Cir. 1995hd replacement
employee need not be under forty years old and there is “no magic formula toereasur
particular age gapld. The United States Court of Appeéts the Third Circuithas concluded
that a four-year gap in age is sufficient, while an eleven-month gap Somapare Sempier v.
Johnson & Higgins45 F.3d 724, 730 (3d Cir. 199)th Gray v. York Newspapers, In857
F.2d 1070, 1087 (3d Cir. 1992).

Plaintiff has the burden of producing evidence that he was replaced by a younger
employee othat his job functions were assumed by a younger employee. In a case in which
there is a dispute over whether an employee has been replaced, courts evalusitsutaces
the job titles of the employee and his purported replacement, their respectileedéve
responsibility, and their respective supervis@ee Andersen v. Mack Trucks, Jri€ivil Action
No. 11-2239, 2015 WL 4579053, at *7-8 (E.D. Pa. July 30, 2015) (“Courts analyzing the fourth
prong must ‘look to the job function, level of supervismgponsibility and salary, as well as
other factors relevant to the particular workplace.” (quatiiogaco v. AmGen. Assurance Co.
359 F.3d 296, 301 (3d Cir. 200%1))

Baron argues that Gottfried and Wood were promoted to regional General Manage
positions after his departure from Abbott, and that Gottfried and Wood can be used tdhestablis
an inference of discrimination. The Court rejects this argument because Gattfaed nor
Wood were promoted to Baron’s position as Manager of Global Commercial Operations

General Manager of all of STARLIMS. Instead, Gottfried and Wood were promoteditmal
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General Manager positions for North Ameriaad Europe and Africa respectiveljad Baron’s
position not been eliminated, baBottfried and Wood would have reported to Bamitheir
new roles Thus, neither Gottfried nor Wood filled Baron’s position, either in terntis@br job
responsibilities.

Baron avers that at the time he was finedwas “performing the functions” of General
Manager of Europe and Africa and General Manager of North America. Howiegdas only
true in so far as Baron was performing the functions of General Managepb&3alARLIMS
worldwide. The changes in structure at AlS during 28dilapsedBaron’s job functions
upwards intdhenfifty -six yearold Champagne’s role as Division Vice President of AlS, rather
than devolving downward to the regional General Managers. In March 2013, when Champagne
took over AIS, only two General Managers reported directlyitampagne: Baron as General
Manager of STARLIMS and Goss as General Manager of On&yatine end of 2013, botbf
thesepositions had been eliminated and Champagne ovéhgasggional general managers
directly. The Court concludes that no reasonable jury could find that Gottfried and Wood
“replaced” Baron because neither Gottfried nor Wood took over Baron’s job respomsilaiiti
General Manager of all of STARLIMS.

Instead, the employee who replaced Baron was Lanchantin in May 2015, when he took
over equivalent responsibilities to Baron as the Bewior Director of Global Commercial
Operations at AlS. Lanchantin took over the direct supervision of the regional geaeeaers
under Champagne. At the time he was promoted, Lanchantin wasififtyyeas old, just one
year younger than Baron was at the time he was fired. This one-year agergayfficient to

createan inference of age discrimination.
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The Court’s conclusion is supported by the fact that Baron has presented, as will be
discussed below, no other circumstantial evidence to support an inference of agendison.

For exampleBaron has presented no comparator evidence (other than the promotion of his
subordinates to regional General Manager positions), no evidence disagetinatoy
comments, and no evidence of any pattern or practice of age discrimination at Abbott. T
record, when viewed as a whole, demonstrates that Basifired at age sixty by his fiftgix-
yearold boss anavas replacegustover a year later by a fiftgine-yearold.

B. Legitimate, Nondiscriminatory Reason for Termination

Assumingarguendathat Baron could make out a casgooia facieage discrimination,
the burden shifts to Abbott to demonstrate that there was a legitimate, nondidorymeason
for temination. The burden on the defendant is only a burden of production, not persuasion, and
is “relatively light.” Fuentes v. Perski&2 F.3d 759, 763 (3d Cir. 1994). Defendant can satisfy
this burden by “introducing evidence which, taken as true, wouldiptre conclusion that there
was a nondiscriminatory reason for the unfavorable employment decision.”

Over the course of this litigatioAbbott has provided several reasons for Baron’s
termination At the December 2013 meeting, Champagne told Baron that Baron’s position was
being eliminated to “shake things up.” In response to Baron’s interrogatories propoundgd duri
this litigation, Abbott took the position that Baron was “terminated because hi®pegas
eliminated as part of a business dexigio flatten the structure of” AIS. Pl.’s Statement of Facts
Ex. J, at 1. At his deposition in April 2015, Champagne testified that he elimina@adBar
position because:

| wanted to take a layer out of the organization, so that we could make decisions

and act on them much . . . more quickly. | also wanted much more direct visibility

into all of the workings of the business in the field. And as such, all of his director
reports essentially reported directly to me.

12



Def.’s Statement of Facts Ex. E, at24. The Court concludes that Abbott has satisfied its light
burden of producing evidence of legitimate, nondiscriminatory business reasarsiioation,
specifically, a reorganization of AIS.

C. Pretext

Abbott argues that Baron has not produced evidence creating a genuine dispute of
material fact thathe proffered legitimate, nondiscriminatory business readsomdiminating
Baron’s positiorwerepretextual. The Court agrees and concludes that, even if Baron had
established arima faciecase, no reasonable jury could conclude that Abbott’s legitimate,
nondiscriminatory reason for termination was pretextual.

To establish pretext, a plaintiffiust present “some evidence, direct or circumstantial,
from which a factinder could reasonably either (1) disbelieve the emplsyeticulated
legitimate reasons; or (2) believe that an invidious discriminatory reason wedikety than
not a motivating or deteinative cause of the employer’s actioRuientes32 F.3dat 764 see
Robinson v. Matthews Intern. Cor368 F. App’x 301, 304 (3d Cir. 2010) (applyiRgentesn
ADEA age discrimination claimPlaintiff must present evidence that will “allow the factfinder
to reasonably infer that each of the employpriferednondiscriminatory reasons was either a
post hodabrication or did not actualiyotivate the employment action” by demonstratisigch
weaknesses, implausibilities, inconsistencies, incoherencies, or contragliotithe employes’
proffered legitimate reass for its actions that a reasonable factfinder could rationally find them
unworthy of credencelt. at 761-65.Plaintiff must do more than simply show that the
employer’'sdecision was wrong or mistaken because plaintiff bears the burden of piteating

the adverse action was causedscriminatory animudd.
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Baron sets fortithreearguments for why the evidence in this case demonstrates pretext.
First, Baron argues that there are inconsistencies in Abbott’s profferedsdas eliminating
his position. Second, Baron avers that Gottfried and Wood were promoted after he was fired.
Third, Baron argues that there is no other reason, other than age, that could hawe hisstifie
firing. The Court rejects these arguments.

With regard to Baron'’s first argumethiat there are inconsistencies in Abbott’s
legitimate, nondiscriminatory busgss reasofor termination,Baron points to what he believes
to be three different reasons offered by Abbott for his termination: (1) Champagaiement
in the December 2013 meeting that Abbott wanted to “shake things up;” (2) Abbott’s response
to interrogatories in this litigation in which Abbott stated that “plaintiff was terminateduibeca
his position was eliminated as a business decision to flatten the structur&Sp&nal (3)
Champagne’s testimony during his April 2015 deposition.

The Court concludes that no reasonable jury could conclude that there is any
inconsistency in these statemerRather they represent three different ways of saying the same
thing. Champagne’s statement that he wanted to “shake things up” is subject ttyaobarie
reasonable interpretatiandowever, any interpretation of “shake things up” is consistent with
Abbott wantingto “flatten the structure of” Al®r with Champagne’s deposition testimony in
this caseAt his April 2015 deposition, Champagne testified:that

| wanted to take a layer out of the organization, so that we could make decisions

and act on them much . . . more quickly. | also wanted much more direct visibility

into all of the workings of the business in the field. And as such, all of his director

reports essentially reported directly to me. . . . Almost every single one that was

on his org chart, [all] of the country managers in Europe. The one for Latin

America and Canada. The four individuals running the [United States]

commercially. The person rumg Asia/Pacific commercially. The customer

operations sales ops person. The marketing person, | think, before [Baron] left,
came over to work for me.
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Def.’s Statement of Facts Ex. E, at28. No reasonable trier of fact could fi@thampagne’s
testimonythat hewanted to “take a layer out of the organization” inconsistent with either a
desire to “shake things up” or a business decision to “flatten the structureSf’ Al

Second, Baron argues that pretext can be inferred from the promotion of Gottfried and
Wood. The Court rejects this argument for the reasons previously discussed bedhese
Gottfried nor Wood replaced Baron. In addition, plaintiff may not “selectively choose a
comparator,” because the court must consider the employer’s actions &bwaetnbers of the
allegedly more favored grouimpson v. Kay Jewelers, Div. of Sterling, ,1dd2 F.3d 639, 645
(3d Cir. 1998). In this case, Baron focuses solely on the allegedly favorablestnieatm
Gottfried and Wood after his firing, but ignores the fact that Abbott also fired Gessnly
other General Manager in AlS who was at the same supervisory level asaBdnoho was
eighteen years younger than Barllio.reasonable jury could infer pretext from the treatment of

Gottfried and Wood, particularly in light of Abbott's treatment of Goss.

% In paragraph 45 of Abbott's Statement of Undisputed Facts, counsel for Abbott aaers’$B
termination was not a result of his job performance, but rather the result ofdégerformance
of the AIS division, which he led,” and cites for this proposition a portion of Champagneél's Apr
2015 deposition. Baron argues that this statement is inconsistent with the “shakeghings
justification for his firingbecause it refers tihe underperformance of the AIS division.
However, Champagne made no reference to the AIS division in the cited part of his diepositi
testimony, which is as follows

Q: So it was your decision in 2013 to terminate [Baron’s] position with the

companyyight?

A: Yes.

Q: With the ultimate effect of causing the termination of his employment, correct?

A: Yes.

Q: And do you agree that [Baron’s] termination was without regard to his job

performance?

A: Yes.
Def.’s Statement of Facts Ex. E, at 24:11-20.rémsonable factfinder could interpret
Champagne’s sworn statement at his deposition as inconsistent with the paos r@avided
for eliminating Baron’s position.
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Baron’sfinal argument amounts to an assertion that Abbott’s business ffeason
terminating him was misguide&aron testified at his deposition in February 2015 that
| was one of the best people in this industry, which is a niche industry and highly
specialized. That my skills and my abilities were well suited towards their
[Abbott's] goals. And that they were happy to have me there and given the
performance | produced over the years, | believe that wasistent with my
performance . . . . They terminated me without any good reason, without any good
explanation, stating that they . . . cannot say anything bad about my performance
or about me, that they thought my integrity was beyond reproach . . . .
Def.’s Statement of Facts Ex. B, at-88. Baron further stated that “given my track record, with
STARLIMS and the years | was there and my contribution, . . . | can only surmiseettes t
one reason for doing that [terminating Baron] and that's agemigsation because there is no
other good reason.” Def.’s Statement of Facts Ex. B, at 85.
This argument is unavailing. “[F]ederal courts are not arbitral boardg rtinhe
strength of ‘cause’ for discharge. The question is not whether the employethadmst, or
even a soundyusiness decision; it is whether the real reason is discriminakefiér v. Orix
Credit Alliance 130 F.3d 1101, 1109 (3d Cir. 199¢itations and quotations omitteddaron
has failed to direct the Court to a single pieteircumstantial evidence supporting his argument
that he was firethecause of his age. He has provided no evidence aisg@ninatory
commentsno evidence of inconsistency in Abbott’s reason for terminatioevidence that he
was replaced with aoyinger individual, no evidence that other younger employees were treated
more favorably, and no evidence of any pattern or practice of age discriminationoti@l€o
notes that Baron was fired by Champagne, who is just three years youngeartbamiself,
weakening any argument that Champagne fired Baron because of seaddwell v. PP&L,

Inc., 47 F. App’x 183, 189 (3d Cir. 2002) (“Elwell's case is further weakened by the fact that

Sobeck was fifty years old at the time he made his hiring choice.”). Thus, Baron hassfietls
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his burden of proving that Abbott’s nondiscriminatory businessorea/as a pretext for age
discrimination.
V. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, Abbott’s Motion for Summary Judgment is granted.ehidgm

is entered in favor of Abbott and against Baron. An appropriate order follows.
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